#### 2013 No. 104

### LEGAL AID AND ADVICE, ENGLAND AND WALES

# The Civil Legal Aid (Merits Criteria) Regulations 2013

Made - - - 22nd January 2013

Coming into force - - 1st April 2013



#### STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

#### 2013 No. 104

#### LEGAL AID AND ADVICE, ENGLAND AND WALES

#### The Civil Legal Aid (Merits Criteria) Regulations 2013

Made - - - - 22nd January 2013

Coming into force - - 1st April 2013

#### **CONTENTS**

# PART 1 INTERPRETATION AND GENERAL

- 1. Citation and commencement
- 2. Interpretation
- 3. Delegation
- 4. Prospects of success
- 5. Prospects of success test
- 6. Public interest
- 7. Reasonable private paying individual test
- 8. Proportionality test
- 9. Likely damages
- 10. Likely costs
- 11. Qualifying for civil legal services

#### PART 2 FORM OF CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

- 12. Form of civil legal services
- 13. Legal help
- 14. Help at court
- 15. Family help
- 16. Family mediation
- 17. Help with family mediation
- 18. Legal representation
- 19. Other legal services

# PART 3 AVAILABILITY OF FORMS OF CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

20. Provision of the most appropriate form of civil legal services

- 21. Mental Health
- 22. Immigration and terrorism prevention and investigation measures etc
- 23. Special Immigration Appeals Commission, immigration: accommodation for asylum-seekers etc and victims of trafficking in human beings
- 24. Family disputes
- 25. Victims of domestic violence and family matters: family help (lower)
- 26. Public law children cases and special Children Act 1989 cases
- 27. Victims of domestic violence and family matters: help with family mediation
- 28. Emergency representation
- 29. Civil legal services which do not include advocacy
- 30. Inquests
- 31. Cross-border disputes

### PART 4

#### GENERAL MERITS CRITERIA

- 32. Criteria for determinations for legal help
- 33. Criteria for determinations for help at court
- 34. Criterion for determinations for family help
- 35. Criteria for determinations for family help (lower)
- 36. Criteria for determinations for family help (higher)
- 37. Criteria for determinations for family mediation
- 38. Criteria for determinations for help with family mediation
- 39. Standard criteria for determinations for legal representation
- 40. Criteria for determinations for investigative representation
- 41. Criteria for determinations for full representation
- 42. Cost benefit criteria for determinations for full representation
- 43. Prospects of success criterion for determinations for full representation
- 44. Multi-party action damages criterion for determinations for full representation
- 45. Criterion for determinations for other legal services
- 46. Criteria for determinations for family help (higher) or legal representation provided as emergency representation

#### PART 5

#### APPLICATION OF THE MERITS CRITERIA

- 47. Application of the merits criteria in cases described in more than one paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act
- 48. Application of the merits criteria in exceptional inquest cases
- 49. Application of the merits criteria in cases which are exceptional cases excluded from Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act
- 50. Application of the merits criteria in cases which are exceptional cases other than by virtue of the exclusions in Part 2 or 3 of Schedule 1 to the Act

#### PART 6 SPECIFIC MERITS CRITERIA

#### CHAPTER 1

Mental Health and Mental Capacity

51. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to mental health proceedings

52. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to mental capacity proceedings

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### Public law

- 53. Standard criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to public law claims
- 54. Standard criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to public law claims
- 55. Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to public law claims
- 56. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to public law claims

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### Claims against public authorities

- 57. Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to claims against public authorities
- 58. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to claims against public authorities
- 59. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to claims against public authorities: multi-party action damages criterion

#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### Immigration

60. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to immigration

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### Housing

- 61. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to court orders for possession
- 62. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to other housing matters to which specific merits criteria apply
- 63. Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to unlawful eviction cases

#### CHAPTER 6

#### Family

- 64. Standard criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to certain family disputes
- 65. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to special Children Act 1989 cases and certain cases relating to EU and international agreements
- 66. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to public law children cases
- 67. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to domestic violence cases
- 68. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to private law children cases and certain cases relating to EU and international agreements
- 69. Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to other family cases to which specific merits criteria apply
- 70. Criteria for determinations in relation to the EU Maintenance Regulation
- 71. Criteria for determinations in relation to the 2007 Hague Convention

#### CHAPTER 7

#### Cross-border disputes

72. Criteria for determinations in relation to cross-border disputes

#### **CHAPTER 8**

Legal persons

- 73. Criteria for determinations in relation to legal persons
- 74. Standard criteria for legal help and legal representation in relation to legal persons
- 75. Criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to legal persons

The Lord Chancellor makes the following Regulations(a) in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 5(4), 11(1)(b) and (6) and 41(1)(a) and (b), (2)(a) and (b) and (3)(a) of, and paragraph 3(2) of Schedule 3 to, the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012(b)("the Act").

In making these Regulations, in accordance with section 11(2) to (5) of the Act, the Lord Chancellor—

- (a) has considered the circumstances in which it is appropriate to make civil legal services available under Part 1 of the Act and, in particular, the extent to which the criteria ought to reflect the factors in section 11(3);
- (b) has sought to secure that, in cases in which more than one form of civil legal service could be provided for an individual, the individual qualifies under Part 1 of the Act for the form of service which in all the circumstances is most appropriate having regard to the criteria; and
- (c) is satisfied that the criteria reflect the principle that, in many disputes, mediation and other forms of dispute resolution are more appropriate than legal proceedings.

In accordance with section 41(6) of the Act, a draft of this instrument was laid before Parliament and approved by resolution of each House of Parliament.

#### PART 1

#### INTERPRETATION AND GENERAL

#### Citation and commencement

**1.** These Regulations may be cited as the Civil Legal Aid (Merits Criteria) Regulations 2013 and come into force on 1st April 2013.

#### Interpretation

2. In these Regulations—

"the 1990 Act" means the Courts and Legal Services Act 1990(c);

"the Act" means the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012;

"advocate" means a person who exercises a right of audience before a court, tribunal or other person;

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 42(1) of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (c.10) provides that in Part 1 of that Act "regulations" means Regulations made by the Lord Chancellor.

**<sup>(</sup>b)** 2012 c 10

<sup>(</sup>c) 1990 c.41.

"case with overwhelming importance to the individual" means a case which is not primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money and which relates to one or more of the following—

- (a) the life, liberty or physical safety of the individual or a member of that individual's family (an individual is a member of another individual's family if the requirements of section 10(6) are met); or
- (b) the immediate risk that the individual may become homeless;

"conditional fee agreement" means an enforceable agreement which satisfies the conditions in—

- (a) section 58 of the 1990 Act (conditional fee agreements)(a);
- (b) section 58AA of the 1990 Act (damages-based agreements)(b); or
- (c) section 58B of the 1990 Act (litigation funding agreements)(c);

"Convention rights" has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Human Rights Act 1998(d);

"domestic violence case" means any matter which is described in either of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—

- (a) paragraph 11 (family homes and domestic violence); or
- (b) paragraph 16 (forced marriage);

"emergency representation" means the provision of civil legal services following an urgent application made in accordance with regulations made under section 12 (determinations) of the Act;

"family dispute" means any matter which is described in any of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—

- (a) paragraph 1 (care, supervision and protection of children);
- (b) paragraph 9 (inherent jurisdiction of High Court in relation to children and vulnerable adults), to the extent that the matter relates to—
  - (i) a child; or
  - (ii) a vulnerable adult, but only to the extent that the matter arises out of a family relationship within the meaning of paragraph 14(7)(b) and (c) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act:
- (c) paragraph 10 (unlawful removal of children);
- (d) paragraph 11 (family homes and domestic violence);
- (e) paragraph 12 (victims of domestic violence and family matters);
- (f) paragraph 13 (protection of children and family matters);
- (g) paragraph 14 (mediation in family disputes);
- (h) paragraph 15 (children who are parties to family proceedings);
- (i) paragraph 16 (forced marriage);
- (j) paragraph 17 (EU and international agreements concerning children); or
- (k) paragraph 18 (EU and international agreements concerning maintenance);

"general merits criteria" means the criteria set out in Part 4 (general merits criteria);

5

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 58 was substituted for section 58 as originally enacted by section 27(1) of the Access to Justice Act 1999 (c.22) and amended by S.I. 2005/3429 and section 44(1) and (2) of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (c.10)("the Act").

<sup>(</sup>b) Section 58AA was inserted by section 154(2) of the Coroners and Justice Act 2009 (c. 25) and was amended by section 45 (1) to (11) of the Act.

<sup>(</sup>c) Section 58B was inserted by section 28 of the Access to Justice Act 1999 (c.22), as amended by S.I. 2005/3429.

<sup>(</sup>d) 1998 c.42.

"lead claim" means the claim in a multi-party action which the Director(a) has identified as being the appropriate claim to be a test case for common or related issues of fact or law;

"merits criteria" means the general merits criteria and the specific merits criteria;

"multi-party action" means proceedings in which a number of individuals have a cause of action which involves common or related issues of fact or law;

"private law children case" means any matter which is described in any of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—

- (a) paragraph 10 (unlawful removal of children);
- (b) paragraph 12 (victims of domestic violence and family matters), to the extent it relates to—
  - (i) Part 1 or 3 of the Family Law Act 1986 (child custody and declarations of status); or
  - (ii) any provision of Part 1 or 2 of the Children Act 1989(b) (orders with respect to children in family proceedings), other than section 15(c) of, and Schedule 1 to, that Act; or
- (c) paragraph 13 (protection of children and family matters);

"provider" means a person who provides civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act (legal aid);

"public law children case" means any matter which is described in either of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—

- (a) paragraph 1 (care, supervision and protection of children), to the extent that the matter is not a "special Children Act 1989 case"; or
- (b) paragraph 9 (inherent jurisdiction of High Court in relation to children and vulnerable adults), to the extent that the matter relates to a child;

"public law claim" means any matter which is described in any of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—

- (a) paragraph 19 (judicial review);
- (b) paragraph 20 (habeas corpus); or
- (c) paragraph 34 (homelessness);

"small claims track" means the small claims track for which provision is made in Part 27 of the Civil Procedure Rules, which are made in exercise of the power conferred by section 2 of the Civil Procedure Act 1997(d) to make rules of court under section 1 of that Act;

"special Children Act 1989 case" means any matter described in paragraph 1(1)(a), (b) or (c) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (care, supervision and protection of children), to the extent that it relates to any of the following provisions of Children Act 1989—

(a) section 25 (use of accommodation for restricting liberty)(e), to the extent that the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided is the child who is or would be the subject of the order;

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 42(1) of the Act provides that in Part 1 of the Act (legal aid) "the Director" means the Director of Legal Aid Casework.

<sup>(</sup>**b**) 1989 c.41.

<sup>(</sup>c) Section 15 was amended by section 116 of, and paragraph 10 of Schedule 16 to, the Courts and Legal Services Act 1990 (c.41) and section 11(1) of, and paragraph 10 of Schedule 2 to, the Maintenance Enforcement Act 1991 (c.17).

<sup>(</sup>d) 1997 c.12. Section 2 was amended by section 15(1) of, and paragraphs 261 and 263(1) and (2) of Part 1 of Schedule 4 to, the Constitutional Reform Act 2005 (c.4).

<sup>(</sup>e) Section 25 was amended by section 39 of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 3 to, the Children and Young Persons Act 2008 (c.23) and section 24 of, and paragraph 45 of Schedule 4 to, the Access to Justice Act 1999 (c.22).

- (b) section 31 (care and supervision orders)(a), to the extent that the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided is the child who is or would be the subject of the order, that child's parent or other person with parental responsibility for that child;
- (c) section 43 (child assessment orders), to the extent that the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided is the child who is or would be the subject of the order, that child's parent or other person with parental responsibility for that child;
- (d) section 44 (orders for emergency protection of children), to the extent that the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided is the child who is or would be the subject of the order, that child's parent or other person with parental responsibility for that child; or
- (e) section 45 (duration of emergency protection orders and other supplemental provisions)(b), to the extent that the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided is the child who is or would be the subject of the order, that child's parent or other person with parental responsibility for that child,

but does not include appeals from final orders made under any of those provisions of the Children Act 1989; and

"specific merits criteria" means the criteria set out in Part 6 (specific merits criteria).

#### **Delegation**

**3.** A function of the Director under these Regulations may be exercised by a person authorised for that purpose by the Director, or by an employee of that person(**c**).

#### **Prospects of success**

- **4.**—(1) In these Regulations, "prospects of success" means the likelihood that an individual who has made an application for civil legal services will obtain a successful outcome at a trial or other final hearing in the proceedings to which the application relates, as assessed by the Director in accordance with regulation 5 (prospects of success test).
  - (2) When the Director assesses the prospects of success, the Director must not have regard to—
    - (a) the possibility of settling the proceedings to which the application relates; or
    - (b) subject to paragraph (3), the prospects of success in any appeal or possible appeal.
- (3) If the application for civil legal services is in relation to an appeal, then the prospects of success are the prospects of success in relation to that appeal.
- (4) "Successful outcome" means the outcome a reasonable individual would intend to achieve in the proceedings in all the circumstances of the case.

#### Prospects of success test

- **5.**—(1) Where the Director assesses, for the purposes of these Regulations, the prospects of success of a matter to which an application for civil legal services relates, the Director must classify the prospects of that matter as follows—
  - (a) "very good", which means an 80% or more chance of obtaining a successful outcome;

<sup>(</sup>a) Section 31 was amended by section 75 of, and paragraph 1 of Schedule 8 to, the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000 (c.43); sections 120 and 121(1) of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (c.38) and section 6 of, and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4 to, the Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008 (c.4).

<sup>(</sup>b) Section 45 was amended by section 52 of, and paragraph 4 of Schedule 6 to, the Family Law Act 1996 (c.27); section 42 of, and paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to, the Children and Young Persons Act 2008 (c.23); section 116 of, and paragraph 19 of Part 1 of Schedule 16 to, the Courts and Legal Services Act 1990 (c.41); S.I.2002/253 and S.I. 2004/1771.

<sup>(</sup>c) Section 6 of the Act (authorisations) makes provision for authorisations given for the purpose of section 5 of the Act (delegation) or regulations under that section.

- (b) "good", which means a 60% or more chance, but less than an 80% chance, of obtaining a successful outcome;
- (c) "moderate", which means a 50% or more chance, but less than a 60% chance, of obtaining a successful outcome;
- (d) "borderline", which means that the case is not "unclear" but that it is not possible, by reason of disputed law, fact or expert evidence, to—
  - (i) decide that the chance of obtaining a successful outcome is 50% or more; or
  - (ii) classify the prospects as poor;
- (e) "poor", which means the individual is unlikely to obtain a successful outcome; or
- (f) "unclear", which has the meaning given in paragraph (2).
- (2) "Unclear" means the Director cannot put the case into any of the categories in paragraph (1)(a) to (e) because, in all the circumstances of the case, there are identifiable investigations which could be carried out, after which it should be possible for the Director to make a reliable estimate of the prospects of success.

#### **Public interest**

- **6.**—(1) For the purposes of these Regulations, a case is of significant wider public interest if the Director is satisfied that the case is an appropriate case to realise—
  - (a) real benefits to the public at large, other than those which normally flow from cases of the type in question; and
  - (b) benefits for an identifiable class of individuals, other than the individual to whom civil legal services may be provided or members of that individual's family.
- (2) In paragraph (1), an individual is a member of another individual's family if the requirements of section 10(6) are met.

#### Reasonable private paying individual test

7. For the purposes of these Regulations, the reasonable private paying individual test is met if the Director is satisfied that the potential benefit to be gained from the provision of civil legal services justifies the likely costs, such that a reasonable private paying individual would be prepared to start or continue the proceedings having regard to the prospects of success and all the other circumstances of the case.

#### **Proportionality test**

**8.** For the purposes of these Regulations, the proportionality test is met if the Director is satisfied that the likely benefits of the proceedings to the individual and others justify the likely costs, having regard to the prospects of success and all the other circumstances of the case.

#### Likely damages

**9.** "Likely damages" means the amount of any damages or other sum of money contested in the case that the individual who is applying for civil legal services is likely to receive if substantially successful at trial or other final hearing, calculated in accordance with regulations made under section 12 of the Act (determinations).

#### Likely costs

- 10.—(1) For the purposes of these Regulations, "likely costs" means the total costs likely to have been incurred on behalf of an applicant for civil legal services at final judgment or settlement of the proceedings—
  - (a) calculated on the basis that the proceedings fail to obtain a successful outcome, or costs are not recovered from another party to the proceedings; and

- (b) taking into account the prospects of the proceedings settling before trial or other final hearing.
- (2) In paragraph (1), "costs" means the fees payable to any provider, calculated by reference to remuneration rates set out in arrangements made by the Lord Chancellor under section 2(1) of the Act or in regulations under section 2(3) of the Act, including (but not limited to)—
  - (a) counsel's fees;
  - (b) disbursements; and
  - (c) any fees payable at an enhanced rate,

but not including Value Added Tax.

#### Qualifying for civil legal services

- 11.—(1) These Regulations apply for the purposes of determining whether an individual or a legal person qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act in accordance with section 11(1)(b)(a).
- (2) In determining whether an individual qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act, the Director must apply the general merits criteria, except to the extent that they are disapplied, modified or supplemented by the specific merits criteria.
- (3) The Director must apply the merits criteria which are appropriate in each case in accordance with Part 5 (application of the merits criteria), to the extent that it is relevant.
- (4) Subject to paragraph (9), an individual or legal person may qualify for civil legal services in accordance with Part 1 of the Act only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) the general merits criteria and, to the extent that they are relevant, the specific merits criteria are met;
  - (b) the criterion in paragraph (6) is met; and
  - (c) the criterion in paragraph (8) is met, to the extent that it is relevant.
- (5) When determining whether an individual qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act, the Director must apply the merits criteria which are relevant to the forms of civil legal services set out in Part 2 (form of civil legal services) and must consider which form of civil legal services is appropriate in accordance with Part 3 (availability of forms of civil legal services).
- (6) An individual or legal person may qualify for civil legal services only if the Director is satisfied that it would be reasonable to provide those services in the light of the conduct of that individual or legal person in connection with—
  - (a) any civil legal services made available under Part 1 of the Act;
  - (b) any application for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act; or
  - (c) any civil proceedings for resolving disputes about legal rights or duties.
  - (7) If the Director is satisfied that—
    - (a) the case is not a case which relates to the life or liberty of the individual or their family (an individual is a member of another individual's family if the requirements of section 10(6) are met);
    - (b) the case is not a public law children case; and
    - (c) the likely costs of the case exceed £250,000 or, if the case forms part of a multi-party action, the likely costs of the multi-party action exceed £1,000,000,

the criterion in paragraph (8) applies.

<sup>(</sup>a) Paragraph 3(2) of Schedule 3 to the Act (legal aid for legal persons) provides that section 11 applies in relation to a determination under paragraph 3(1)(b) of Schedule 3 to the Act. A determination under paragraph 3(1)(b) is a determination that a legal person qualifies for civil legal services in accordance with Part 1 of the Act.

- (8) An individual or legal person may qualify for civil legal services only if the Director is satisfied that, having had regard to the present and likely future demands for the provision of civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act, it is reasonable to provide the individual or legal person with civil legal services in all the circumstances of the case including, but not limited to, the particular circumstances of the individual or legal person.
  - (9) No merits criteria apply to civil legal services provided—
    - (a) in relation to an assessment by a mediator of whether, in the light of all the circumstances, a case is suitable for mediation;
    - (b) in relation to any matter described in paragraph 18(2) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (EU and international agreements concerning maintenance), to the extent that it—
      - (i) relates to any application under Article 56(1)(a) or (b) of the EU Maintenance Regulation(a); and
      - (ii) concerns maintenance obligations arising from a parent-child relationship towards a person under the age of 21;
    - (c) in relation to any matter described in paragraph 17(1)(b) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (an application made to the Lord Chancellor under the 1980 Hague Convention(b) in respect of a child who is, or is believed to be, in England and Wales), to the extent that it relates to an applicant under the 1980 Hague Convention; or
    - (d) in relation to any matter described in paragraph 18(3A) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (application made under Article 10 of the 2007 Hague Convention) to the extent that it—
      - (i) relates to any application under Article 10(1)(a) or (b) of the 2007 Hague Convention; and
      - (ii) is an application made by a creditor under the 2007 Hague Convention concerning maintenance obligations arising from a parent-child relationship towards a person under the age of 21.

#### PART 2

#### FORM OF CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

#### Form of civil legal services

- 12.—(1) Subject to Part 3 (availability of forms of civil legal services), when determining whether an individual qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act, the Director must apply the merits criteria which are relevant to each form of civil legal services set out in paragraph (3).
- (2) Subject to Part 3 (availability of forms of civil legal services), when determining whether a legal person qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act by virtue of the criteria in Chapter 8 of Part 6, the Director must apply the merits criteria which are relevant to each of the forms of civil legal services set out in paragraph (3)(a) or (f).
  - (3) "Form of civil legal services" means—
    - (a) legal help;
    - (b) help at court;
    - (c) family help;
    - (d) family mediation;

<sup>(</sup>a) The EU Maintenance Regulation is defined in paragraph 18(5) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act to mean Council Regulation (EC) No. 4/2009 of 18 December 2008 on jurisdiction, applicable law, recognition and enforcement of decisions and co-operation in matters relating to maintenance obligations.

<sup>(</sup>b) The 1980 Hague Convention is defined in paragraph 17(3) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act to mean the Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction which was signed at The Hague on 25 October 1980.

- (e) help with family mediation;
- (f) legal representation; and
- (g) other legal services,

which are further defined in regulations 13 to 19.

#### Legal help

- 13. "Legal help" means the provision of civil legal services other than—
  - (a) acting as a mediator or arbitrator;
  - (b) issuing or conducting court proceedings;
  - (c) instructing an advocate in proceedings;
  - (d) preparing to provide advocacy in proceedings; or
  - (e) advocacy in proceedings.

#### Help at court

- **14.** "Help at court" means the provision of any of the following civil legal services at a particular hearing—
  - (a) instructing an advocate;
  - (b) preparing to provide advocacy; or
  - (c) advocacy.

#### Family help

- 15.—(1) Family help may be provided in a family dispute as either family help (lower) or family help (higher).
  - (2) "Family help (lower)" means—
    - (a) civil legal services provided in relation to the negotiation of a family dispute before the issuing of proceedings; or
    - (b) civil legal services provided in relation to the issuing of proceedings in order to obtain a consent order following the settlement of a family dispute.
- (3) "Family help (higher)" means such civil legal services as are available under legal representation but does not include preparation for, or representation at, a contested final hearing or appeal.

#### **Family mediation**

- **16.**—(1) "Family mediation" means the provision of any of the following civil legal services, in a family dispute—
  - (a) an assessment by a mediator of whether, in the light of all the circumstances, a case is suitable for mediation; or
  - (b) acting as a mediator.
- (2) In this regulation, "mediator" means a mediator with whom the Lord Chancellor has made an arrangement under section 2(1) of the Act (arrangements).

#### Help with family mediation

- 17. "Help with family mediation" means the provision of any of the following civil legal services, in relation to a family dispute—
  - (a) civil legal services provided in relation to family mediation; or

(b) civil legal services provided in relation to the issuing of proceedings to obtain a consent order following the settlement of the dispute following family mediation.

#### Legal representation

- **18.**—(1) Legal representation may be provided as either investigative representation or full representation.
- (2) "Legal representation" means the provision of civil legal services, other than acting as a mediator or arbitrator, to an individual or legal person in particular proceedings where that individual or legal person—
  - (a) is a party to those proceedings;
  - (b) wishes to be joined as a party to those proceedings; or
  - (c) is contemplating issuing those proceedings.
- (3) "Investigative representation" means legal representation which is limited to the investigation of the strength of the contemplated proceedings and includes the issuing and conducting of proceedings but only so far as necessary—
  - (a) to obtain disclosure of information relevant to the prospects of success of the proceedings;
  - (b) to protect the position of the individual or legal person applying for investigative representation in relation to an urgent hearing; or
  - (c) to protect the position of the individual or legal person applying for investigative representation in relation to the time limit for the issue of the proceedings.
  - (4) "Full representation" means legal representation other than investigative representation.

#### Other legal services

- 19. "Other legal services" means the provision of any of the following civil legal services—
  - (a) instructing an advocate;
  - (b) preparing to provide advocacy; or
  - (c) advocacy,

in proceedings in relation to which the Director, having applied the relevant merits criteria in accordance with regulations 48 to 50 (application of the merits criteria in exceptional cases), has made a determination under section 10(2)(b) or (4)(c)(exceptional cases) of the Act.

#### PART 3

#### AVAILABILITY OF FORMS OF CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

#### Provision of the most appropriate form of civil legal services

- **20.**—(1) Where the Director determines in accordance with regulations 21 to 31 that—
  - (a) an individual or a legal person qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Act; and
  - (b) that more than one form of civil legal services could be provided for that individual or legal person,

the services provided must be those the Director considers most appropriate in all the circumstances.

(2) Regulations 21 to 31 apply, in relation to any matter referred to in those regulations, for the purpose of determining which form of civil legal services is most appropriate in relation to that matter.

#### **Mental Health**

21. Investigative representation is not appropriate in relation to any matter described in paragraph 5(1)(a) or (b) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (mental health), to the extent that it relates to proceedings before the First-tier Tribunal or the Mental Health Review Tribunal for Wales.

#### Immigration and terrorism prevention and investigation measures etc

- **22.** Help at court and investigative representation are not appropriate in relation to any matter described in any of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—
  - (a) paragraphs 25 to 30 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (immigration), to the extent they relate to proceedings before the First-tier Tribunal or the Upper Tribunal;
  - (b) paragraph 32(1) (victims of trafficking in human beings); and
  - (c) paragraph 45 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (terrorism prevention and investigation measures etc).

# Special Immigration Appeals Commission, immigration: accommodation for asylum-seekers etc and victims of trafficking in human beings

- 23. Help at court is not appropriate in relation to any matter described in any of the following paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services)—
  - (a) paragraph 24 (Special Immigration Appeals Commission); and
  - (b) paragraph 31 (immigration: accommodation for asylum-seekers etc).

#### **Family disputes**

- **24.**—(1) Help at court and investigative representation are not appropriate in relation to a family dispute.
- (2) Full representation is not appropriate in relation to any matter described in paragraph 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (mediation in family disputes).

#### Victims of domestic violence and family matters: family help (lower)

**25.** Family help (lower) is not appropriate in relation to any matter described in paragraph 12 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (victims of domestic violence and family matters) to the extent that it relates to a petition for divorce under section 1 of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973(a) or an application for a dissolution order under section 44 of the Civil Partnership Act 2004(b).

#### Public law children cases and special Children Act 1989 cases

**26.** Family help (higher) is not appropriate in public law children cases or special Children Act 1989 cases.

#### Victims of domestic violence and family matters: help with family mediation

27. Help with family mediation described in regulation 17(b) is not appropriate in relation to any matter arising under an enactment specified in paragraph (e), (i), (k), (l) or (o) of the definition of "family enactment" in paragraph 12(9) (victims of domestic violence and family matters) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services).

<sup>(</sup>a) 1973 c.18.

**<sup>(</sup>b)** 2004 c.33.

#### **Emergency representation**

**28.** Legal representation and family help (higher) are the only forms of civil legal services which are appropriate for an individual who qualifies for emergency representation.

#### Civil legal services which do not include advocacy

**29.** Legal representation, family help (higher) and help at court are not appropriate forms of civil legal services in relation to any matter in which the civil legal services available under Part 1 of the Act do not include advocacy.

#### **Inquests**

**30.** Legal help is the only form of civil legal services which is appropriate in relation to any matter described in paragraph 41 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (inquests).

#### **Cross-border disputes**

**31.** Legal help and legal representation are the only forms of civil legal services which are appropriate in relation to any matter described in paragraph 44 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (cross-border disputes).

#### PART 4

#### GENERAL MERITS CRITERIA

#### Criteria for determinations for legal help

- **32.** An individual may qualify for legal help only if the Director is satisfied that the following criteria are met—
  - (a) it is reasonable for the individual to be provided with legal help, having regard to any potential sources of funding for the individual other than under Part 1 of the Act; and
  - (b) there is likely to be sufficient benefit to the individual, having regard to all the circumstances of the case, including the circumstances of the individual, to justify the cost of provision of legal help.

#### Criteria for determinations for help at court

- **33.** An individual may qualify for help at court only if the Director is satisfied that the following criteria are met—
  - (a) it is reasonable for the individual to be provided with help at court having regard to any potential sources of funding for the individual, other than under Part 1 of the Act;
  - (b) there is likely to be sufficient benefit to the individual, having regard to all the circumstances of the case, including the circumstances of the individual, to justify the cost of provision of help at court; and
  - (c) the nature and circumstances of—
    - (i) the proceedings;
    - (ii) the particular hearing; and
    - (iii) the individual.

are such that advocacy is appropriate and will be of real benefit to that individual.

#### Criterion for determinations for family help

**34.** An individual may qualify for family help only if the Director is satisfied that the reasonable private paying individual test is met.

#### Criteria for determinations for family help (lower)

35. An individual may qualify for family help (lower) only if the Director is satisfied that the criterion in regulation 34 (criterion for determinations for family help) is met and that the provision of family help (lower) would help to avoid the issue of contested proceedings.

#### Criteria for determinations for family help (higher)

- **36.**—(1) An individual may qualify for family help (higher) only if the Director is satisfied that the criterion in regulation 34 (criterion for determinations for family help) is met and that the individual has exhausted all reasonable alternatives to bringing proceedings.
- (2) Alternatives to bringing proceedings include, but are not limited to, mediation and negotiation.

#### Criteria for determinations for family mediation

37. An individual may qualify for family mediation under regulation 16(1)(b) (mediation) only if the Director is satisfied that the mediator has assessed that, in all the circumstances of the case, the case is suitable for mediation.

#### Criteria for determinations for help with family mediation

- **38.** An individual may qualify for help with family mediation only if the Director is satisfied that the following criteria are met—
  - (a) the individual is participating, or has participated in, family mediation (other than attending an assessment of the kind referred to in regulation 16(1)(a)); and
  - (b) there is sufficient benefit to the individual, having regard to all the circumstances of the case, including the circumstances of the individual, to justify the cost of provision of help with family mediation.

#### Standard criteria for determinations for legal representation

- **39.** An individual may qualify for legal representation only if the Director is satisfied that the following criteria are met—
  - (a) the individual does not have access to other potential sources of funding (other than a conditional fee agreement) from which it would be reasonable to fund the case;
  - (b) the case is unsuitable for a conditional fee agreement;
  - (c) there is no person other than the individual, including a person who might benefit from the proceedings, who can reasonably be expected to bring the proceedings;
  - (d) the individual has exhausted all reasonable alternatives to bringing proceedings including any complaints system, ombudsman scheme or other form of alternative dispute resolution;
  - (e) there is a need for representation in all the circumstances of the case including—
    - (i) the nature and complexity of the issues;
    - (ii) the existence of other proceedings; and
    - (iii) the interests of other parties to the proceedings; and
  - (f) the proceedings are not likely to be allocated to the small claims track.

#### Criteria for determinations for investigative representation

- **40.**—(1) An individual may qualify for investigative representation only if the Director is satisfied that the criteria in regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and the following criteria are met—
  - (a) the prospects of success of the case are unclear and substantial investigative work is required before those prospects can be determined;
  - (b) the Director has reasonable grounds for believing that, once the investigative work to be carried out under investigative representation is completed, the case will satisfy the criteria for full representation and, in particular, will meet the cost benefit criteria in regulation 42 and the prospects of success criterion in regulation 43; and
  - (c) subject to paragraph (2), if the individual's claim is primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money in which the likely damages do not exceed £5,000, the case must be of significant wider public interest.
- (2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(c), if the claim forms part of a multi-party action only the lead claim within that action is capable of being a case of significant wider public interest.

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation

- **41.** An individual may qualify for full representation only if the Director is satisfied that the criteria in regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and the following criteria are met—
  - (a) the cost benefit criteria in regulation 42;
  - (b) the prospects of success criterion in regulation 43; and
  - (c) if the individual's claim forms part of a multi-party action and is primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money in which the likely damages do not exceed £5,000, the multi-party action damages criterion in regulation 44.

#### Cost benefit criteria for determinations for full representation

- **42.**—(1) The cost benefit criteria are as follows.
- (2) If the case is primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money and is not of significant wider public interest—
  - (a) if the prospects of success of the case are very good, the Director must be satisfied that the likely damages exceed likely costs;
  - (b) if the prospects of success of the case are good, the Director must be satisfied that the likely damages exceed likely costs by a ratio of two to one; or
  - (c) if the prospects of success of the case are moderate, the Director must be satisfied that the likely damages exceed likely costs by a ratio of four to one.
  - (3) If the case is—
    - (a) not primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money; and
    - (b) not of significant wider public interest,

the Director must be satisfied that the reasonable private paying individual test is met.

(4) If the case is of significant wider public interest, the Director must be satisfied that the proportionality test is met.

#### Prospects of success criterion for determinations for full representation

- **43.** The prospects of success criterion is only met if the Director is satisfied that the prospects of success are—
  - (a) very good, good or moderate; or
  - (b) borderline, and the case is—

- (i) of significant wider public interest; or
- (ii) a case with overwhelming importance to the individual.

#### Multi-party action damages criterion for determinations for full representation

- 44. The multi-party action damages criterion is only met if—
  - (a) the individual's claim is the lead claim, and
  - (b) the Director is satisfied that the case is of significant wider public interest.

#### Criterion for determinations for other legal services

**45.** An individual may qualify for other legal services only if the Director is satisfied that it would be reasonable in all the circumstances of the case for the individual to be provided with other legal services.

# Criteria for determinations for family help (higher) or legal representation provided as emergency representation

- **46.** An individual may qualify, in relation to an application for emergency representation for family help (higher) or legal representation, only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) the merits criteria which apply to that application are met; and
  - (b) it is in the interests of justice to provide emergency representation.

#### PART 5

#### APPLICATION OF THE MERITS CRITERIA

# Application of the merits criteria in cases described in more than one paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**47.** Where more than one set of merits criteria could be applied to a case because it is described in more than one paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (civil legal services), the Director must apply the merits criteria which are, in the opinion of the Director, most appropriate in all the circumstances of the case.

#### Application of the merits criteria in exceptional inquest cases

- **48.** The Director must apply the criterion in regulation 45 (criterion for determinations for other legal services) for the purposes of a determination under—
  - (a) section 10(2)(b) of the Act, to the extent to that it relates to services which consist of advocacy in proceedings at an inquest under the Coroners Act 1988(a) into the death of a member of the family of the individual who has made an application for civil legal services; or
  - (b) section 10(4)(c) of the Act.

# Application of the merits criteria in cases which are exceptional cases excluded from Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**49.**—(1) The Director must apply the merits criteria in paragraph (2) for the purpose of making a determination under section 10(2)(b) of the Act (exceptional cases) in relation to civil legal services in any matter which would fall within a description in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, but

<sup>(</sup>a) 1988 c.13.

for an exclusion in Part 2 (excluded services) or Part 3 (advocacy: exclusions and exceptions) of that Schedule.

(2) The criteria referred to in paragraph (1) are the merits criteria which would have applied in relation to that matter had it not been subject to that exclusion.

# Application of the merits criteria in cases which are exceptional cases other than by virtue of the exclusions in Part 2 or 3 of Schedule 1 to the Act

- **50.**—(1) To the extent that regulation 49 does not apply, the Director must apply the merits criteria in paragraph (2) for the purpose of making a determination under section 10(2)(b) of the Act (exceptional cases) in relation to any matter in which civil legal services are not otherwise available because they are not described in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act.
- (2) The criteria referred to in paragraph (1) are the merits criteria which appear to the Director to be most appropriate in all the circumstances of the case.

#### PART 6

#### SPECIFIC MERITS CRITERIA

#### CHAPTER 1

Mental Health and Mental Capacity

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to mental health proceedings

- **51.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 5(1)(a) or (b) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (mental health and the repatriation of prisoners), to the extent that it relates to proceedings before the First-tier Tribunal or the Mental Health Review Tribunal for Wales—
  - (a) the criteria in regulations 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply; and
  - (b) the criterion in paragraph (2) applies.
- (2) The Director must be satisfied that it would be reasonable in all the circumstances of the case for the individual to be provided with full representation.

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to mental capacity proceedings

- **52.**—(1) For the purposes of a relevant determination the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and regulations 41(a) and (b), 42 and 43 (criteria for determinations for full representation) apply;
  - (b) regulations 41(c) and 44 (multi-party action damages criterion) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraph (2) apply.
- (2) The Director must be satisfied that—
  - (a) the Court of Protection has ordered, or is likely to order, an oral hearing; and
  - (b) it is necessary for the individual to be provided with full representation in the proceedings.
- (3) In this regulation, a relevant determination is a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 5(1)(c) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (mental capacity) in proceedings before the Court of Protection to the extent that they relate to—
  - (a) a person's right to life;
  - (b) a person's liberty or physical safety;

- (c) a person's medical treatment (within the meaning of the Mental Health Act 1983(a));
- (d) a person's capacity to marry, to enter into a civil partnership or to enter into sexual relations; or
- (e) a person's right to family life.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### Public law

#### Standard criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to public law claims

- **53.** For the purposes of a determination for legal representation in relation to a public law claim, the Director must be satisfied that the criteria in regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) are met and that—
  - (a) the act, omission or other matter complained of in the proposed proceedings appears to be susceptible to challenge; and
  - (b) the individual exhausted all administrative appeals and other alternative procedures which are available to challenge the act, omission or other matter before bringing a public law claim.

## Standard criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to public law claims

- **54.** For the purposes of a determination for investigative representation in relation to a public law claim, the Director must be satisfied that—
  - (a) the criteria in regulation 53 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to public law claims) are met; and
  - (b) the individual has—
    - (i) notified the proposed defendant of the individual's potential challenge and given a reasonable time for the proposed defendant to respond; or
    - (ii) shown that doing so would be impracticable.

#### Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to public law claims

**55.** For the purposes of a determination for investigative representation in relation to a public law claim the criteria in regulation 40(1)(a) and (b) (investigative representation) and 54 (standard criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to public law claims) apply and the criteria in regulation 40(1)(c) and (2) (investigative representation: minimum damages rule) do not apply.

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to public law claims

- **56.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to a public law claim—
  - (a) the criteria in regulations 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply;
  - (b) the Director must be satisfied that the criteria in regulation 53 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to public law claims) are met; and
  - (c) the criteria in paragraphs (2) and (3) apply.
- (2) An individual may qualify for full representation in relation to a public law claim only if the Director is satisfied that—

<sup>(</sup>a) 1983 c.20.

- (a) the individual has sent a letter before claim to the proposed defendant (except where this is impracticable), and where such a letter has been sent, the proposed defendant has been given a reasonable time to respond;
- (b) the proportionality test is met; and
- (c) the criterion in paragraph (3) is met.
- (3) The Director must be satisfied that the prospects of successfully obtaining the substantive order sought in the proceedings are—
  - (a) very good, good or moderate; or
  - (b) borderline, and—
    - (i) the case is of significant wider public interest;
    - (ii) the case is one with overwhelming importance to the individual; or
    - (iii) the substance of the case relates to a breach of Convention rights.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### Claims against public authorities

# Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to claims against public authorities

- 57.—(1) For the purposes of a determination for investigative representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 21 (abuse of position or powers by public authority) or 22 (breach of Convention rights by public authority) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act the criteria in—
  - (a) regulations 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and 40(1)(a) and (b) (criteria for determinations for investigative representation) apply; and
  - (b) regulation 40(1)(c) and (2) apply, subject to paragraph (2).
- (2) The criteria in regulation 40(1)(c) and (2) (investigative representation: minimum damages rule) only apply to the extent that such a matter—
  - (a) is part of a multi-party action; and
  - (b) does not relate to—
    - (i) the abuse of a child or a vulnerable adult; or
    - (ii) a contravention of the Equality Act 2010(a) or of a previous discrimination enactment.
  - (3) In this regulation and in regulation 59—
    - (a) "abuse", "child" and "vulnerable adult" have the meaning given by paragraph 3(5) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (abuse of child or vulnerable adult); and
    - (b) "previous discrimination enactment" has the meaning given by paragraph 43(3) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (equality).

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to claims against public authorities

- **58.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 21 (abuse of position or powers by public authority) or 22 (breach of Convention rights by public authority) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) apply;

<sup>(</sup>a) 2010 c.15.

- (b) regulation 41(a) and (b) (criteria for determinations for full representation), regulation 42 (cost benefit criteria) and regulation 43 (prospects of success criterion) do not apply; and
- (c) paragraphs (2) and (3) apply.
- (2) An individual may qualify for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 21 (abuse of position or powers by public authority) or 22 (breach of Convention rights by public authority) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) the proportionality test is met; and
  - (b) the criterion in paragraph (3) is met.
  - (3) The Director must be satisfied that the prospects of success are—
    - (a) very good, good or moderate; or
    - (b) borderline, and—
      - (i) the case is of significant wider public interest;
      - (ii) the case is one with overwhelming importance to the individual; or
      - (iii) the substance of the case relates to a breach of Convention rights.

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to claims against public authorities: multi-party action damages criterion

- **59.** For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 21 (abuse of position or powers by public authority) or paragraph 22 (breach of Convention rights by public authority) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, the criteria in regulation 41(c) and 44 (multi-party action damages criterion) only apply to the extent that such a matter does not relate to—
  - (a) the abuse of a child or a vulnerable adult; or
  - (b) a contravention of the Equality Act 2010 or of a previous discrimination enactment.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### Immigration

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to immigration

- **60.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraphs 25 to 30 (immigration) or 32(1) (victims of trafficking in human beings) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, to the extent that it relates to proceedings before the First-tier Tribunal or Upper Tribunal, the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39(a) to (e) (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) apply;
  - (b) regulations 39(f) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraphs (2) and (3) apply.
- (2) An individual may qualify for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraphs 25 to 30 (immigration) or 32(1) (victims of trafficking in human beings) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) if the case is not of significant wider public interest, the reasonable private paying individual test is met;
  - (b) if the case is of significant wider public interest, the proportionality test is met; and
  - (c) the criterion in paragraph (3) applies.
  - (3) The Director must be satisfied the prospects of success are—
    - (a) very good, good or moderate; or

- (b) borderline or unclear, and—
  - (i) the case is of significant wider public interest;
  - (ii) the case is one with overwhelming importance to the individual; or
  - (iii) the substance of the case relates to a breach of Convention rights.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### Housing

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to court orders for possession

- **61.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 33(1)(a) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (court orders for sale or possession of the individual's home), to the extent that it relates to court orders for possession of the individual's home, the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) apply;
  - (b) regulations 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraph (2) apply.
  - (2) The Director must be satisfied that the following criteria are met—
    - (a) if the individual is the defendant to a claim for possession, the individual has a defence to the claim;
    - (b) the prospects of success are very good, good, moderate or borderline; and
    - (c) the proportionality test is met.

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to other housing matters to which specific merits criteria apply

- **62.**—(1) For the purposes of a relevant determination the criteria in—
  - (a) regulations 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation), 41(b) and 43 apply (prospects of success criterion);
  - (b) regulations 41(a) and (c) (criteria for determinations for full representation), 42 (costs benefit criteria) and 44 (multi-party action damages criterion) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraph (2) apply.
- (2) The Director must be satisfied that—
  - (a) the proportionality test is met; and
  - (b) the landlord or other person responsible for the matter complained of has been notified of the individual's complaint (except where this is impracticable) and, where such notice has been given, the landlord or other person has had a reasonable opportunity to resolve the matter.
- (3) In this regulation, a relevant determination is a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in—
  - (a) paragraph 33(1)(b) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (the eviction from the individual's home of the individual or others), to the extent that it relates to services provided to an individual in relation to the unlawful eviction from the individual's home of the individual or others;
  - (b) paragraph 35 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (risk to health or safety in rented home); or
  - (c) paragraph 37 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (protection from harassment), to the extent that it relates to the interference with an individual's enjoyment of their home (within the meaning of paragraph 35(4) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act) by a landlord or other person.

## Criteria for determinations for investigative representation in relation to unlawful eviction cases

- **63.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for investigative representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 33(1)(b) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (the eviction from the individual's home of the individual or others), to the extent that it relates to services provided to an individual in relation to the unlawful eviction from the individual's home of the individual or others, the criteria in—
  - (a) regulations 39 (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and 40(1)(a) and (b) (criteria for determinations for investigative representation) apply;
  - (b) regulation 40(1)(c) and (2) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraphs (2) and (3) apply.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (3), if the individual's claim is primarily a claim for damages or other sum of money in which the likely damages do not exceed £1,000, the case must be of significant wider public interest.
- (3) For the purposes of paragraph (2), if the claim forms part of a multi-party action, only the lead claim within that action is capable of being a case of significant wider public interest.

#### **CHAPTER 6**

#### Family

# Standard criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to certain family disputes

- **64.**—(1) For the purposes of a relevant determination the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39(a) and (c) to (e) (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) apply; and
  - (b) regulations 39(b) and (f) (standard criteria for determinations for full representation) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply.
- (2) In this regulation, a relevant determination is a determination for full representation in relation to—
  - (a) a domestic violence case;
  - (b) a private law children case;
  - (c) any matter described in paragraph 15 (children who are parties to family proceedings) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act;
  - (d) any matter described in paragraph 17(1)(EU and international agreements concerning children) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, to the extent that regulations 11(9)(c) or 65 do not apply; or
  - (e) any matter described in paragraph 18(1)(EU and international agreements concerning maintenance) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, to the extent that regulation 65 does not apply.

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to special Children Act 1989 cases and certain cases relating to EU and international agreements

- **65.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to a relevant determination, the criteria in—
  - (a) regulation 39(e) apply (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation); and
  - (b) regulations 39(a) to (d) and (f) (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply.

- (2) In this regulation, a relevant determination is—
  - (a) a determination for full representation in relation to a special Children Act 1989 case; or
  - (b) a determination for full representation in a case in which the applicant is an individual who, in the State of origin, has benefited from complete or partial legal aid in relation to any matter described in—
    - (i) paragraph 17(1)(c)(EU and international agreements concerning children) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act;
    - (ii) paragraph 18(1)(EU and international agreements concerning maintenance) of that Part;
    - (iii) paragraph 18(3)(parties who benefited from free legal aid etc. in the Member State of origin) of that Part;
    - (iv) paragraph 18(3A)(applications under Article 10 of the 2007 Hague Convention) of that Part, to the extent that Article 17(b) of that Convention applies; or
    - (v) paragraph 18(3B)(applications under Article 17(b) of the 2007 Hague Convention which is applied by virtue of Article 37(2)) of that Part.

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to public law children cases

- **66.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to a public law children case—
  - (a) the criteria in regulations 39(b) to (d) and (f) (standard criteria for determinations for legal representation) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply;
  - (b) the criteria in regulation 39(a) and (e) apply; and
  - (c) paragraph (2) applies.
- (2) An individual may qualify for full representation in a public law children case only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) it is reasonable for full representation to be provided, having regard to the importance of the case to the individual; and
  - (b) if the individual is making or supporting an appeal or application, the prospects of success of that appeal or application are very good, good, moderate or borderline.

#### Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to domestic violence cases

- 67.—(1) For the purposes of a determination for full representation in relation to a domestic violence case, regulation 64 (standard criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to certain family disputes) applies in addition to the criteria in paragraph (2).
- (2) An individual may qualify for full representation in a domestic violence case only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) the prospects of success are very good, good, moderate or borderline; and
  - (b) the proportionality test is met.

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to private law children cases and certain cases relating to EU and international agreements

- **68.**—(1) For the purposes of a relevant determination the criteria in regulation 64 (standard criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to certain family disputes) apply in addition to the criteria in paragraph (2).
  - (2) The Director is satisfied that—
    - (a) the prospects of success are very good, good, moderate or borderline; and
    - (b) the reasonable private paying individual test is met.

- (3) In this regulation, a relevant determination is a determination for full representation in relation to—
  - (a) a private law children case;
  - (b) any matter described in paragraph 17(1) (EU and international agreements concerning children) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, to the extent that regulations 11(9)(c) and 65 do not apply; or
  - (c) any matter described in paragraph 18(1) (EU and international agreements concerning maintenance) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act, to the extent that regulation 65 does not apply.

# Criteria for determinations for full representation in relation to other family cases to which specific merits criteria apply

- **69.**—(1) For the purposes of a relevant determination the criteria in—
  - (a) regulations 39(a) to (e) (criteria for determinations for legal representation) apply;
  - (b) regulations 39(f), 41, 42 (cost benefit criteria), 43 (prospects of success criterion) and 44 (multi-party) do not apply; and
  - (c) paragraphs (2) and (3) apply.
- (2) The Director must be satisfied that—
  - (a) the reasonable private paying individual test is met; and
  - (b) the criterion in paragraph (3) is met.
- (3) The Director must be satisfied that the prospects of success of the case are—
  - (a) very good, good or moderate; or
  - (b) unclear or borderline, and—
    - (i) the case is one of significant wider public interest;
    - (ii) the case is one with overwhelming importance to the individual; or
    - (iii) the substance of the case relates to a breach of Convention rights.
- (4) In this regulation, a relevant determination is—
  - (a) a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 12 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (victims of domestic violence and family matters) to the extent that it does not relate—
    - (i) to Part 1 or 3 of the Family Law Act 1986(a) (child custody and declarations of status);
    - (ii) subject to sub-paragraph (b), to any provision of Part 1 or 2 of the Children Act 1989(b) (orders with respect to children in family proceedings);
  - (b) a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 12 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (victims of domestic violence and family matters) to the extent that it relates an order made under section 15 of, and Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989;
  - (c) a determination for full representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 18(2) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (applications in relation to maintenance decisions), to the extent that regulations 11(9)(b) or 70 do not apply; or
  - (d) any matter described in paragraph 18(3A) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (applications under Article 10 of the 2007 Hague Convention), to the extent that article 17(a)(c) of the 2007 Hague Convention applies.

<sup>(</sup>a) 1986 c.55.

**<sup>(</sup>b)** 1989 c.41.

<sup>(</sup>c) Article 17(a) provides that in the case of all applications under the 2007 Hague Convention other than those under article 15 or 16 the provision of free legal assistance may be made subject to a merits test.

#### Criteria for determinations in relation to the EU Maintenance Regulation

- **70.**—(1) For the purposes of a determination for any form of civil legal services in relation to any matter described in paragraph 18(2) of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (applications relating to maintenance decisions), to the extent that it—
  - (a) is an application under Article 56(1)(c) to (f) of the EU Maintenance Regulation; and
  - (b) concerns maintenance obligations arising from a parent-child relationship towards a person under the age of 21,

the general merits criteria do not apply and paragraph (2) applies.

(2) An individual may qualify for civil legal services only if the Director is satisfied that the application is not manifestly unfounded.

#### Criteria for determinations in relation to the 2007 Hague Convention

- 71.—(1) For the purposes of a determination for any form of civil legal services in relation to any matter described in paragraph 18(3A) (applications under Article 10 of the 2007 Hague Convention), to the extent that it—
  - (a) does not relate to an application under Article 10(1)(a) or (b) of the 2007 Hague Convention; and
  - (b) is an application by a creditor under the 2007 Hague Convention concerning maintenance obligations arising from a parent-child relationship towards a person under the age of 21,
- the general merits criteria do not apply and paragraph (2) applies.
- (2) The individual may qualify for civil legal services only if the Director is satisfied that the application is not manifestly unfounded.

#### **CHAPTER 7**

#### Cross-border disputes

#### Criteria for determinations in relation to cross-border disputes

- 72.—(1) For the purposes of a determination for legal help in relation to any matter described in paragraph 44 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (cross-border disputes), regulation 32 (criteria for determinations for legal help) does not apply and the criterion in paragraph (2) applies.
- (2) An individual may qualify for legal help only if the Director is satisfied that the application is not manifestly unfounded.
- (3) For the purposes of a determination for legal representation in relation to any matter described in paragraph 44 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (cross-border disputes)—
  - (a) the general merits criteria apply; and
  - (b) if the general merits criteria are not met the Director must then consider whether legal representation should be granted in any event—
    - (i) in order to guarantee access to justice;
    - (ii) in order to ensure equality of parties; or
    - (iii) in view of the complexity of the case,
    - and taking into account the importance of the case to the individual.

#### **CHAPTER 8**

#### Legal persons

#### Criteria for determinations in relation to legal persons

- 73. For the purposes of a determination in relation to an application for civil legal services by a legal person—
  - (a) to the extent that it relates to legal help, regulation 32 (criteria for determinations for legal help) does not apply and the criteria in regulation 74 apply;
  - (b) to the extent that it relates to legal representation, regulations 39 (standard criteria for legal representation), 40 (criteria for determinations for investigative representation) and 41 to 44 (criteria for determinations for full representation) do not apply and the criteria in regulations 74 and 75 apply.

#### Standard criteria for legal help and legal representation in relation to legal persons

- 74.—(1) A legal person may qualify for legal help or legal representation only if the Director is satisfied that it is reasonable, in all the circumstances of the case, for the legal person to be provided with legal help or legal representation.
- (2) It is reasonable for the legal person to be provided with legal help or legal representation only if the Director is satisfied that—
  - (a) the legal person does not have access to other potential sources of funding (other than a conditional fee agreement) from which it would be reasonable to fund the provision of legal help or legal representation, including, but not limited to, taking into account the financial capacity of the legal person's shareholders, partners or members;
  - (b) there are no other persons, other than the legal person, including those who might benefit from the provision of legal help or the proceedings, who can reasonably be expected to be provided with legal help or to bring the case;
  - (c) there is a need for legal help or legal representation in all the circumstances of the case;
  - (d) there is sufficient benefit to the legal person, having regard to all the circumstances of the case, to justify the provision of legal help or legal representation.

#### Criteria for determinations for legal representation in relation to legal persons

- 75.—(1) A legal person may qualify for legal representation only if the Director is satisfied that the following criteria are met—
  - (a) the case is unsuitable for a conditional fee agreement;
  - (b) the legal person has exhausted all reasonable alternatives to bringing proceedings including any complaints system, ombudsman scheme or other form of alternative dispute resolution; and
  - (c) the proceedings are not likely to be allocated to the small claims track.
- (2) A legal person may qualify for investigative representation only if the Director is satisfied that
  - (a) the criteria in paragraph (1) are met;
  - (b) the prospects of success of the case are unclear and substantial investigative work is required before those prospects can be determined; and
  - (c) the Director has reasonable grounds for believing that once the investigative work to be carried out under investigative representation is completed the case will satisfy the criteria in paragraph (3)(b) and (c).
  - (3) A legal person may qualify for full representation only if the Director is satisfied that—
    - (a) the criteria in paragraph (1) are met;

- (b) the likely benefit of the proceedings to the legal person and others justify the likely costs, having regard to the prospects of success and all the other circumstances of the case; and
- (c) prospects of success of the case are—
  - (i) very good, good or moderate; or
  - (ii) borderline and the case is of significant wider public interest.
- (4) For the purposes of this regulation, regulations 4 (prospects of success) and 5 (prospects of success test) apply as if the references in them to individuals were references to legal persons.

Signed by authority of the Lord Chancellor

22nd January 2013

McNally
Minister of State
Ministry of Justice

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

(This note is not part of the Regulations)

The Civil Legal Aid (Merits Criteria) Regulations 2013 ("the Regulations") make provision for the criteria which the Director of Legal Aid Casework must apply when determining whether an individual or legal person qualifies for civil legal services under Part 1 of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (c. 10) ("the Act").

Regulation 3 enables functions of the Director under these Regulations to be exercisable by, or by employees of, a person authorised by the Director. Section 6 of the Act (authorisations) makes provision for authorisations.

Provision is made for how the prospects of success of a case are to be assessed (regulations 4 and 5) and when a case is of significant wider public interest (regulation 6). Regulation 7 sets out the reasonable private paying individual test. Regulation 8 sets out the proportionality test. Regulation 11 sets out how these Regulations apply to an application for civil legal services.

Part 2 of the Regulations makes provision for the forms of civil legal services to which different merits tests apply. Regulations 13 to 19 define the different forms of civil legal services.

Part 3 makes provision in relation to which form of civil legal services is appropriate in certain cases. If an individual qualifies for more than one form of civil legal services the Director must decide which form of civil legal services is most appropriate in all the circumstances of the case. Regulations 20 to 31 make provision in relation to the appropriate form of civil legal services in different types of case.

Part 4 of the Regulations makes provision for the general merits criteria, which apply in the absence of provision to the contrary in Part 6 (specific merits criteria).

Part 5 of the Regulations makes provision for the application of the merits criteria in cases which are described in more than one paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act (regulation 47) and in cases in relation to which civil legal services are available under section 10 of the Act (regulations 48 to 50).

Part 6 of the Regulations makes provision for the specific merits criteria, which apply to certain cases which fall with the description of specified paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act and for the criteria which apply in relation to applications by legal persons for civil legal services.

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo, Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office and Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament.

<sup>©</sup> Crown copyright 2013

Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from:

#### Online

www.tsoshop.co.uk

#### Mail, Telephone, Fax & E-mail

TS0

PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1GN

Telephone orders/General enquiries: 0870 600 5522

Fax orders: 0870 600 5533

 $\hbox{E-mail: customer.services@tso.co.uk}\\$ 

Textphone: 0870 240 3701

TSO@Blackwell and other Accredited Agents

